RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 22, 2014, 4:32 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 91039-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Division III, Cause No. 31163-5-III

WILLIAM HOUK, et ux.,

Petitioners,

v.

BEST DEVELOPMENT & CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC., et al.,

Defendants.

NICHOLS & SHAHAN DEVELOPMENTS, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company and JOSEPH K. NICHOLS, individually,

Respondents,

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Leonard D. Flanagan, WSBA # 20966 Justin D. Sudweeks, WSBA # 28755 Daniel S. Houser, WSBA # 32327 Attorneys for Petitioner

#### A. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioner is the plaintiff and respondent below, Janice M. Houk.

#### B. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

Mrs. Houk seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division 3, filed herein on March 13, 2014, and the resulting attorney fee and cost award. (Appendix A.)

#### C. Issues Presented for Review

This case presents issues of substantial public interest arising from the dissolution and cancellation provisions of the Limited Liability Company Act at Chapter 25.15, RCW ("the LLC Act"), as originally written, as amended in 2006, and as amended in 2010 in response to Chadwick Farms Owners Ass'n v. FHC, LLC, 166 Wn.2d 178, 207 P.3d 1251 (2009). As in Chadwick Farms, the limited liability company ("LLC") in this case is (or was) a single-asset real estate developer with unsatisfied warranty obligations, which allowed itself to be secretly dissolved and cancelled without making provision for those obligations. The issues presented are:

- (1) Is former RCW 25.15.303 a statute of limitations, or instead a survival statute intended to preserve claims against dissolved LLCs?
- (2) Does the automatic cancellation of an LLC's "certificate of formation" under prior law toll statutes of limitations on claims against the LLC under the common law and RCW 4.16.180, because creditors were statutorily disabled from maintaining suit against a cancelled LLC?

- (3) Did the 2010 amendments to the LLC Act render the defendant LLC again susceptible to suit, because cancellation of its certificate of formation became legally meaningless at that point?
- (4) Is the defendant LLC estopped, under principals analogous to the doctrine of *de facto* corporations, to assert its dissolution as a defense?
- (5) Assuming that the defendant LLC has no legally recognized existence "for any purpose" under the *Chadwick Farms* decision, may it be awarded prevailing-party attorney fees under the real estate purchase and sale agreement ("REPSA") at issue in this suit?
- (6) Is the defendant LLC entitled to an award of prevailing-party attorney fees when it was not a party to the REPSA?
- (7) Does former RCW 25.15.303 bar claims against an LLC member sued as the named seller under a REPSA (or as the selling agent of an undisclosed principal), irrespective of his membership in an LLC?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Statutory and Case Law History

In 2005, Division I's *Ballard Square* decision held that the Business Corporations Act preserved from abatement only those claims existing before dissolution of a corporation, but not claims accruing after dissolution. *Ballard Sq. Condo. v. Dynasty Constr.*, 126 Wn.App. 285, 291, 108 P.3d 818 (2005), *aff'd on other grounds*, 58 Wn.2d 603, 146 P.3d 914 (2006). Following *Ballard Square*, the Legislature took up two measures. First was SB 6596, which amended the Business Corporations Act to preserve claims arising after dissolution for a specified period.

Second was SB 6531, later codified as RCW 25.15.303, which created a new survival statute claims against dissolved LLCs:

The dissolution of a limited liability company does not take away or impair any remedy available against that limited liability company, its managers, or its members, for any right or claim. . . unless an action or other proceeding thereon is not commenced within three years after the effective date of dissolution.

SB 6531 provided that claims commenced within three years of an LLC's dissolution would *not* be impaired. The bill did not say that claims would abate or be barred after three years, if not asserted. In fact, it said nothing about what would happen to claims not commenced within the three year period, but left the question open and dependent on other law.

Testimony in committee, including by the bill's sponsor Senator Brian Weinstein, shows that the purpose of SB 6531 was to create a *survival statute* for claims against dissolved LLCs, with no hint of any intent to create a limitations period:

Staff Report: "Senate Bill 6531 deals with the dissolution of limited liability corporations and the <u>survival of claims</u> against a limited liability corporation following its dissolution....

"There's no express provision in the LLC law dealing with the <u>survival of claims</u> after dissolution. . . . What the bill does is provide a three year period during which the dissolution of an LLC does not in any way diminish a remedy or a claim that was filed before or after the dissolution. . . .

Sen. Weinstein: "....[T]he reason I'm here is that ... this Ballard Square decision ... was a decision involving a corporation that dissolved and there were claims against it, and once a corporation dissolves it no longer exists, so you couldn't sue it. And there was no survival period. I knew that that was a problem for both corporations and LLCs....

(Appendix B, Transcript of House Judiciary Committee Hearing on SB 6531).<sup>1</sup> (Emphasis added.) Both the House and Senate Bill Reports also speak of the measure as a "survival" statute, not a period of limitation.

The Court of Appeals in two decisions preceding *Chadwick Farms* describe former RCW 25.15.303 as a survival statute.<sup>2</sup> Likewise, *all* of the *amici curiae* and every litigant in *Chadwick Farms* who addressed RCW 25.15.303 acknowledged that it was a survival statute.<sup>3</sup>

In *Chadwick Farms*, this Court held that under the LLC Act at the time, an LLC's "existence as a separate legal entity" was extinguished not by dissolution, as are corporations, but instead by automatic "cancellation" of its certificate of formation two years after administrative dissolution for failure to renew under RCW 25.15.070(2)(c). Thus, the Court declined to apply RCW 25.15.303 to save the claims at issue in the case because the LLCs were not only dissolved, but also cancelled. 166 Wn.2d at 188, 198.

In the course of its opinion, the *Chadwick Farms* court in *obiter* dicta comments, mischaracterized RCW 25.15.303 as a period of

http://www.tvw.org/index.php?option=com\_tvwplayer&eventID=2006021130
Beginning at time stamp 28:30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Emily Lane Homeowners Ass'n v. Colonial Dev., LLC, 139 Wn. App. 315, 317, 160 P.3d 1073 (2007); and Chadwick Farms Owners Ass'n v. FHC, LLC, 139 Wn. App. 300, 307, 160 P.3d 1061 (2007).

Amicus WSBA Brief (Supreme Court No. 80459-1 consolidated with 80450-8), p. 12; Amicus WSTLA Brief (*Id.*), p. 1; Appellant Colonial Development, LLC's Brief (*Id.*), p. 11; Respondent Emily Lane Townhomes Condo Owners Association's Brief (*Id.*), p. 1; Chadwick Farms Owners Association's Supplemental Brief (*Id.*), p. 1; FHC, LLC's Petition for Review (*Id.*), p. 11.

Briefs are available at: http://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/coaBriefs/index.cfm?fa=coaBriefs.ScHo me&courtId=A08

*limitations* on claims that runs from the effective date of dissolution of an LLC. 166 Wn.2d at 182, 193, 196, 202.

In response, the Legislature quickly enacted SHB 2657, effective June 10, 2010. ("The 2010 amendments"). The 2010 amendments revised the LLC Act to remove all suggestion that a "cancelled" LLC no longer exists or is incapable of being sued. Instead, an LLC that dissolves, without more, now remains subject to suit indefinitely. The 2010 amendments also changed RCW 25.15.303 by providing that its three year survival period would only come into effect if a dissolved LLC files a "certificate of cancellation." (See Appendix C, SHB 2657, as enrolled, esp. §§ 2(2)(c), 7(4), 9 & 11.)

The House Bill Report noted that the 2010 amendments would "address and resolve two issues that need immediate attention. First, under the *Chadwick Farms* decision . . . a certificate of cancellation abates all legal claims. This decision leaves creditors in an untenable situation." Appendix D, House Bill Report for SB 2657, p. 4.<sup>4</sup>

The Senate Bill Report notes that the entire concept of "cancellation" was included in the original Act not for the purposes of protecting investors or bringing about an abatement of claims, but merely to keep an aging computer system in the Secretary of State's office functioning efficiently!

The [LLC Act] as it was proposed to us originally did not include a process of cancellation. The concept of cancellation stemmed from a concern expressed by the [Office of the Secretary of State] with their computer system and a perceived need to have a clear end to an LLC so it may be wiped off the books.

Appendix E, Senate Bill Report for SB 2657, p. 3.

The chair of the subcommittee of the WSBA committee that drafted the 2010 amendments (and a primary drafter of the original LLC Act), explained to the House Judiciary Committee that

It's really a very simple bill. I think it can fairly be described as **technical corrections**, and that's certainly the mindset we had when . . . drafting this version of the bill.

(Appendix B, Transcript of House Judiciary Committee Hearing on SHB 2657.)<sup>5</sup> (Emphasis added.) He also testified that

I don't think we intended that cancellation of the certificate would result in the inability to bring actions against the LLC or the inability of the LLC to take actions. That was the extra step that the *Chadwick Farms* court took last year that produced the anxiety among those of us who are familiar with LLC practice.

*Id.* He further explained that SHB 2657 would correct that procedural deficiency in order to provide a remedy to creditors.

[T]he bill does away with the statement . . . that the separate existence of the LLC as an entity continues until cancellation of the Certificate of Formation . . . . [It] eliminates the statement that suggests, by negative inference, that if a Certificate of Cancellation is filed the LLC goes, "poof," goes away and that was the basis for the Chadwick Farms decision.

Id.

#### 2. NSD, Its Members, and the Property Sale Transaction.

Defendant Nichols & Shahan Developments LLC ("NSD") built the defective residence which is the subject of this lawsuit. (CP 112).

http://www.tvw.org/index.php?option=com\_tvwplayer&eventID=2010011211 Beginning at time stamp 12:30.

NSD's managing members, defendants Joseph Nichols ("Nichols") and Burt Shahan ("Shahan"), were responsible for all major decisions of NSD. (CP 125). Presumably this includes winding up decisions.

On September 22, 2004, Nichols signed a real estate purchase and sale agreement ("REPSA") for the residence with plaintiffs. (CP 154). The REPSA identifies Nichols as the "Seller." (CP 154, 159, 160, 161). The REPSA does not reference NSD at any point. (CP 154-159, 162). When the sale was consummated around October 11 of 2004, however, title to the property was transferred by NSD to the Houks. (CP 168).

#### 3. NSD's Notice of Houk Claims.

Shahan was advised by the Houks of some construction defects in the residence in November of 2004. (CP 8, 50, 90). NSD was thus aware of its outstanding warranty obligations to the Houks by that time.

#### 4. Administrative Dissolution of NSD.

It appears that NSD did not file its annual renewal paperwork and/or fee with the Secretary of State in 2006. The Secretary of State issued a document entitled "Certificate of Administrative Dissolution" dated October 2, 2006. (CP 174). Nichols claims that the members did not receive notice that NSD had failed to renew. (CP 192, 119, 120).

## 5. NSD Continued Business Operations Following its Dissolution.

Nichols testified that in 2005 NSD applied for insurance, and that he "brought [NSD] into the mix on building the duplex up on lot one of Qualchan Hills." (CP 295). Nichols explained that NSD "was hiring Best

Construction to build the duplex through the Overlook, LLC." (Id.) The duplex was finished, probably, in 2007. (CP 191).

## 6. Cancellation of NSD's Certificate of Formation Tolled All Limitations Periods on Claims Against It.

Under the LLC Act as written at the time, NSD's "Certificate of Formation" was automatically cancelled by the Secretary of State two years after it was administratively dissolved.<sup>6</sup> This automatic cancellation terminated the company's legal existence, and rendered it incapable of being sued or maintaining suit as of October 2, 2008. *Chadwick Farms*, 166 Wn.2d at 195 and 199.

## 7. NSD's Susceptibility to Suit Was Restored Upon Amendment of the LLC Act.

Effective June 10, 2010, the Legislature made substantial revisions to the LLC Act. First, the provision in RCW 25.15.070(2)(c) which stated that cancellation of a certificate of formation ended an LLC's "separate legal existence" was excised from the Act. Second, the 2010 amendments established a new procedure whereby a dissolved LLC may notify known claimants of its dissolution, state a deadline for assertion of claims, and receive a bar to the prosecution of claims not timely asserted. RCW 25.15.298. Finally, the amendments provide that unless a "Certificate of Dissolution" is filed by an LLC, the passage of three years will not impair

Chadwick Farms, 166 Wn.2d at 190 ("[W]hen the secretary of state administratively dissolves a limited liability company for failure to pay fees or file reports (as here), cancellation of the certificate of formation automatically occurs two years later if the company does not seek reinstatement. See ... [former] RCW 25.15.290(4)...")

a creditor's right to pursue claims against a dissolved LLC, or an LLC's rights to pursue claims itself. RCW 25.15.303 (as amended).

#### 8. This Suit Was Timely Commenced.

This suit alleging defective construction and implied warranty violations was commenced six months after the effective date of the 2010 amendments, on December 16, 2010. (CP 1). Assuming, as Mrs. Houk contends, that automatic cancellation of NSD's certificate of formation on October 2, 2008 tolled statutes of limitations on claims against NSD until its immunity from suit was removed by the 2010 amendments, then six months remained on the three year period of RCW 25.15.303.

#### 9. Procedural History

NSD and Nichols moved for summary judgment, arguing that this suit was instituted more than three years following dissolution of NSD, and that claims against both NSD and Nichols were barred by former RCW 25.15.303 as a "statute of limitations." (CP 175-184).

Houk responded that: (1) the REPSA was between the Houks and Nichols personally, not NSD; thus, at most, Nichols was acting on behalf of an undisclosed principal (CP 187-189); (2) even following dissolution, NSD continued to conduct business operations (CP 190-191); (3) the members of NSD were not aware of the company's dissolution, and made no winding up provisions for known obligations (CP 192-194). Houk further argued (4) that the amended version of RCW 25.15.303 applies, and claims against NSD are not barred because NSD never filed a certificate of dissolution. (CP 195-204).

The trial court denied NSD's and Nichols' motion for summary judgment, reasoning that amended RCW 25.15.303 was curative, clarifying, and meant to correct the impact of *Chadwick Farms*.

NSD and Nichols were granted interlocutory review.

Pursuant to RAP 2.5(a) and *Otis Hous. Ass'n v. Ha*, 165 Wn.2d 582, 587, 201 P.3d 309 (2009), Mrs. Houk's new counsel advanced additional legal arguments on appeal for affirming the trial court's denial of summary judgment. Mrs. Houk noted that: (1) former RCW 25.15.303 was not a limitations period; (2) even if former RCW 25.15.303 was a limitations period, it was tolled when NSD's certificate of formation was automatically cancelled; (3) NSD is estopped to assert its dissolution under principles analogous to the *de facto corporation* doctrine; and (4) if NSD has no legal existence, it may not be awarded prevailing party fees.

NSD and Nichols responded to the additional legal arguments with comprehensive briefing, and made no suggestion that the record needed further development to decide them.

#### 10. Division III Opinion

The Court of Appeals reversed and awarded summary judgment to NSD and Nichols. It also awarded both NSD and Nichols attorney fees under the REPSA. *Houk v. Best Dev. & Constr. Co.*, 179 Wn.App. 908, 915-16, 322 P.3d 29 (2014). Because the Court of Appeals did not

Under RAP 2.5(a), a party may present a ground for affirming a trial court "if the record has been sufficiently developed to fairly consider the ground" and under *Otis Hous. Ass'n*, the appellate court "may affirm the trial court on any grounds established by the pleadings and supported by the record."

mention the additional bases for affirmance identified above, or describe any exercise of reasoned discretion in declining to consider them, Mrs. Houk moved for reconsideration. The motion was denied without opinion.

#### E. ARGUMENT

#### 1. Former RCW 25.15.303 Was Not A Limitations Period.

The Court of Appeals erred on an issue of substantial public interest because former RCW 25.15.303 created a survival statute to preserve claims against feared abatement upon dissolution of an LLC. It contained no period of limitations on claims against dissolved LLCs.

Former RCW 25.15.303 never says what happens to claims against a dissolved LLC *after* the three-year period has expired. It never states that claims against a dissolved LLC are barred after three years, though that is one possible reading, by negative inference. From all that appears, under section .303 what happens to claims three years after dissolution is an open question to be decided by reference to other law.<sup>8</sup>

Limitations statutes positively state that claims may not be brought after a certain period of time. Former RCW 25.15.303 does not. Thus, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that former RCW 25.15.303 bars all

A survival statute differs from a statute of limitations in that a survival statute extends the life of a corporation for a limited time so that it may sue or be sued, while a statute of limitations affects the time in which a stale claim may be brought. *Ballard Sq.*, 126 Wn. App. at 289, fn 10.

See, for example: RCW 4.16.005 ("actions can only be commenced within the periods provided in this chapter after the cause of action has accrued"); RCW 4.16.040, .080, ("The following actions shall be commenced within [six/three] years ..."); RCW 7.72.060 ("no claim under this chapter may be brought more than three years from the time the claimant discovered or in the exercise of due diligence should have discovered the harm and its cause"); RCW 9A.04.070(1) ("Prosecutions for criminal offenses shall not be commenced after the periods prescribed in this section...")

claims three years after an LLC's dissolution rests on one possible negative inference, not on the actual language of the statute.<sup>10</sup>

The Court of Appeals, however, correctly noted that *Chadwick Farms* refers in passing to RCW 25.15.303 as a "limitations" period. However, that comment in *Chadwick Farms* was *dicta*, and not the basis for decision. The statute was not applied as a limitations period.<sup>11</sup>

Chadwick Farms' dicta suggestion that former RCW 25.15.303 was a statute of limitations was simply wrong, as demonstrated above. At best, the Court's comment describes one *possible* reading. It is more plausible that the Legislature meant that once three years passes from dissolution, unfiled claims are no longer saved from abatement, if that is what the law calls for. Had the Legislature meant that a claim not filed

Use of the word "unless" in RCW 25.15.030 suggests the possibility that that if three years passes following dissolution, a claim against an LLC either is or *may be* either "impaired" or "taken away," though it is not clear which, or how they are different. The trouble arises from the imprecise use of the word "unless," along with a cumbersome, double-negative structure. Like the word "or," the word "unless" is frequently ambiguous. Does "unless" in this context mean "except that dissolution *shall* take away or impair remedies if a claims is not timely filed?" Or does it mean "except that dissolution *may* impair or take away claims that are not timely filed"? Used in this fashion, the word "unless" renders the sentence structurally ambiguous. This the kind of ambiguous use of the word "unless" was identified, for example, in *Sec'y of Labor v. Excel Mining, LLC*, 334 F.3d 1, 10 (D.C. Cir. 2003), whereby a regulation was silent as to what happened under the first proposition if the second proposition following the word "unless" was true instead of false.

Note that the statute is also ambiguous about what does or could happen to claims not asserted within three years. Are they "impaired," and if so, how and to what degree? Or are they "taken away"? This ambiguity suggests that this section does not determine what happens as a result of dissolution after three years, and that the question is committed to other law.

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