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

Appeals, citing RAP 9.12, properly refused to consider them on appeal. 

Although the Houks complain that the Court of Appeals should 

have considered new issues they raised for the first time on appeal, they 

fail to apply the correct standard of review. Indeed, the petition does not 
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even mention RAP 9.12, which bars consideration of evidence and issues 

that were not called to the trial court's attention on summary judgment. 

Instead, the Houks rely upon RAP 2.5(a), which states that "[a] 

party may present a ground for affirming a trial court decision which was 

not presented to the trial court if the record has been sufficiently 

developed to fairly consider the ground." Id (emphasis added). 

Astonishingly, the Houks then make the patently false claim that Mr. 

Nichols and NSD "made no suggestion that the record needed further 

development to decide" issues raised for the first time on appeal. (Petition 

for Review, pg. 1 0). 

In fact, Mr. Nichols' and NSD's Reply Brief before the Court of 

Appeals is replete with challenges to the adequacy of the Record on 

summary judgment to address these new issues2
, including: 

Stated differently, the Plaintiffs new legal arguments and 
factual contentions are completely devoid of articulation or 
support in the Record. (Reply at pg. 2). 

As an initial matter, it should be noted that the Plaintiffs are 
remiss in failing to show how the issues they raise for the 
first time on appeal were "sufficiently developed" in the 
lower court. In fact, the record needed to support the 
Plaintiffs new legal theories simply does not exist. (Reply 
at pg. 4). 

2 Despite having an insufficient Record to review these issues for the first time on appeal, 
Mr. Nichols' and NSD's Reply in the Court of Appeals did provide briefing to 
demonstrate why these new issues are not well-based in law or fact. Due to space 
limitations in this answer, and because the issues are not properly before the Court, many 
of those arguments will not be repeated herein. 
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On appeal, the Plaintiffs seek to run from the issues they 
raised below by introducing entirely new issues that were 
never presented on summary judgment and for which the 
Record was never developed. (Reply at pg. 6). 

Permitting the Plaintiffs to present these new issues and 
arguments for the first time on appeal would be contrary to 
the letter and spirit of the Court's rules. Moreover, it places 
the Defendants at a manifestly unfair position of having to 
respond, in an appellate reply brief, to numerous issues of 
first impression without the benefit of a proper Record. 
(Reply at pg. 25). 

In any event, it is clear that RAP 9.12, the "Special Rule for Order 

on Summary Judgment", is the applicable rule. RAP 9.12 provides: "On 

review of an order granting or denying a motion for summary judgment 

the appellate court will consider only evidence and issues called to the 

attention of the trial court." Id. (emphasis added). 

The Court of Appeals was asked to review a trial court's order 

denying motions for summary judgment and RAP 9.12 was the applicable 

rule. Although review was de novo, the Court of Appeals' inquiry was 

limited to the issues called to the trial court's attention. RAP 9.12; Zeleck 

v. Everett Clinic, 60 Wn.App. 107, 111 n. 1 (Div. I 1991)(Defendant 

moved for summary judgment on statute of limitations and Plaintiff could 

not introduce new legal theory on appeal: "This argument was not raised 

to the trial court; we therefore do not consider it."); Johnson v. Reehorn, 

56 Wn.App. 692, 700 (Div. I 1990) ("This issue was not presented to the 
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trial court and may not be raised in the Court of Appeals"). 

Even courts citing RAP 2.5(a) in the context of summary judgment 

have held that "[w]here the trial court had no opportunity to address the 

issue, we decline to consider it." Sorrel v. Eagle Healthcare, Inc., 110 

Wn.App. 290, 299, n. 25 (Div. I 2002). See also, Almquist v. Finley 

School Dist. No. 53, 114 Wn.App. 395,401-02 (Div. III 2002) ("Simply 

put, these substantial legal theories advanced on appeal were not urged 

upon the trial judge in the first instance. We need not entertain them for 

the first time here."); Lindblad v. Boeing Co., 108 Wn.App. 198, 207 (Div. 

I 2001) ("We will not review an issue, theory, argument, or claim of error 

not presented at the trial court level."). 

Notably, the only case cited in support of the Houks' attempt to 

introduce entirely new issues on appeal, Otis Hous. Ass'n v. Ha, 165 

Wn.2d 582 (2009), does not even concern a motion for summary 

judgment. (Petition at pg. 1 0). Rather, that case dealt with a trial court's 

denial of a motion to compel arbitration and is completely inapposite. 

The Court of Appeals decision not to entertain numerous issues 

and allegations that the Houks failed to call to the attention of the trial 

court on summary judgment is entirely consistent with the Rules of 

Appellate Procedure and case precedent. As a result, the petition for 

review fails to meet the criteria for review articulated in RAP 13.4(b). 
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C. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY REJECTED NEW 
ARGUMENTS CONTRADICTED BY THE HOUKS' PRIOR 
CONTENTIONS. 

The Court of Appeals decision also properly declined to consider 

new arguments that were inconsistent with the Houks' position before the 

trial court. Matthias v. Lehn & Fink Products Corp., 70 Wn.2d 541, 543 

(1967) ("[T]he rule is well established that this court will not consider 

matters not presented to the trial court, nor will this court review a case on 

a theory different from that in which it was presented at the trial level."). 

The single issue presented for review in the Court of Appeals was 

whether time-barred causes of action were revived by subsequent 

amendment to a statute of limitations. Until the Houks filed their response 

brief in the Court of Appeals, there was no dispute that RCW 25.15.303 is 

a statute of limitations. The Houks' creative attempt to take a contrary 

stance on appeal was apparently not well-received by the Court of 

Appeals, given that the Washington State Supreme Court, the Court of 

Appeals, and even the Houks consistently referred to RCW 25.15.303 as a 

statute of limitations. 

In Chadwick Farms Owners Ass'n v. FCH, LLC, 166 Wn.2d 178, 

195 (2009), the majority opinion unequivocally characterized RCW 

25.15.303 as a "statute of limitations" that required commencement of an 

action against a limited liability company within three years of its 
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dissolution.3 Although the Court was divided on issues related to the 

effect of a limited liability company's "cancellation", even the four 

dissenting justices agreed that RCW 25.15.303 is a statute of limitations. 

!d. at 207 (C. Johnson, dissenting). In other words, the Court unanimously 

agreed that RCW 25.15.303 is a statute of limitations. 

In Serrano on Cal. Condo. Homeowners Ass'n v. First Pac. Dev., 

Ltd, 143 Wn.App. 521, 524 (Div. I 2008), the Court of Appeals likewise 

determined that RCW 25.15.303 was a statute of limitations and applied it 

as such. 

The Houks' claim that RCW 25.15.303 is not a statute of 

limitations is puzzling, given that they took a contrary position on 

summary judgment and in response to the Motion for Discretionary 

Review before the Court of Appeals. There, the Houks referred to 

RCW 25.15.303 as a statute of limitations approximately 30 times. (CP 

194-197,200, 202-204; RP 22, 23, 27, 33, 42; Janice Houk's Reply [sic] 

Brief [to Defendants' Motion for Discretionary Review] at 1, 10, 12, 13). 

As explained above, the Houks are prohibited from raising new 

issues for the first time on appeal; particularly where those issues are 

inconsistent with their prior arguments. The Houks' new argument that 

3 Division III Court of Appeals Chief Judge Korsmo, who signed the unanimous opinion 
in this case, was intimately familiar with the decision in Chadwick Farms, having joined 
its majority opinion in a pro tempore capacity. 
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RCW 25.15.303 is not a statute of limitations lacked credibility in the 

Court of Appeals and fails to satisfy any basis for granting discretionary 

review now. 

D. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT 
WITH ANY DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT OR OTHER 
COURTS OF APPEALS. 

Because the petition for review only discusses legal issues that 

were never brought to the attention of the Superior Court, it is easy to lose 

sight of the simplicity of the motion for summary judgment at issue; i.e., 

whether the Superior Court erred in holding that the 2010 amendments to 

RCW 25.15.303 revived claims that were already time-barred under the 

prior version of that statute. 

RCW 25.15.303 first became effective on June 7, 2006, which was 

approximately four months before the administrative dissolution ofNSD. 

(CP 114, 174, 308). As originally enacted, the statute read as follows: 

The dissolution of a limited liability company does not take 
away or impair any remedy available against that limited 
liability company, its managers, or its members for any 
right or claim existing, or any liability incurred at any time, 
whether prior to or after dissolution, unless an action or 
other proceeding thereon is not commenced within three 
years after the effective date of dissolution. Such an action 
or proceeding against the limited liability company may be 
defended by the limited liability company in its own name. 

RCW 25.15.303 (2006). In Chadwick Farms, this Court stated that this 

statute of limitations "means that an action against a limited liability 
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company, whether arising before or after dissolution, must be brought 

within three years ofdissolution". 166 Wn.2d 182, 195. 

Under the 2006 version ofRCW 25.15.303, there was absolutely 

no requirement that a dissolved limited liability company ("LLC") file any 

sort of documentation with the Secretary of State before the statute of 

limitations was triggered. Rather, the limitations period began to run on 

the LLC's "effective date of dissolution." In the case of an 

administratively dissolved LLC, the Secretary of State would file a 

Certificate of Administrative Dissolution, which provided constructive 

public notice of the dissolution.4 The Certificate of Administrative 

Dissolution established the "effective date of dissolution" for 

administratively dissolved LLCs and triggered the statute of limitations. 

Serrano, 143 Wn.App. at 525 (2008); Hartford Ins. Co. v. Ohio Cas. Ins. 

Co., 145 Wn.App. 765, 774-774 (2008). 

In this case, it is undisputed that NSD was dissolved on October 2, 

2006 and the Secretary of State filed a Certificate of Administrative 

Dissolution on that date. 5 (CP 114, 174, 308). As noted in the Court of 

4 LLCs may be administratively dissolved by the Secretary of State for a number of 
reasons, including (as in the case ofNSD) failure to renew its license or file an annual 
report. RCW 25.15.280. (CP 174). 

s The Certificate of Administrative Dissolution is kept on file by the Secretary of State 
and provided public notice ofNSD's dissolution in 2006. (CP 174). In other words, NSD 
did not "secretly dissolve" as the Houks now allege. The certificate was easily obtained 
from the Secretary of State's office for a mere ten dollar copying charge. (CP 278). 
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Appeals' decision, it is also undisputed that the 2006 version of 

RCW 25.15.303 was continuously in effect (a) on the date that NSD was 

administratively dissolved, (b) during the entire three-year limitations 

period that was triggered by NSD's dissolution, and (c) for an additional 

period of eight months thereafter. 

Based upon these undisputed facts, it is clear that RCW 25.15.303 

(2006) required the Houks to commence this lawsuit against the NSD and 

Mr. Nichols no later than October 2, 2009- three years from the date of 

NSD's dissolution. That never happened. Instead, the Houks filed suit on 

December 16, 201 0 - more than fourteen months after their claims were 

time-barred. (CP 1-14). 

For eight months, NSD and Mr. Nichols were indisputably 

shielded from liability based on RCW 25.15.303 (2006). Nevertheless, the 

Superior Court accepted the Houks' argument that June 10, 201 0 

amendments to RCW 25.15.303 revived the Houks' time-barred causes of 

action. Specifically, the Superior Court noted that the amended statute 

now required a dissolving LLC to file its own "Certificate of Dissolution" 

before the limitations period is triggered. (CP 308). 

The Superior Court thus denied the motions for summary judgment 

because NSD and Mr. Nichols did not personally file a document that the 

law never required when NSD dissolved. (CP 308-309). Given the law's 
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strong presumption against retroactive application of statutory 

amendments, this was clear error. 

In the United States, courts have long disfavored statutory 

retroactivity and presume that new statutory requirements are to be applied 

prospectively. Landgrafv. US! Film Products, 511 U.S. 244,268-70 

(1994). Indeed, "the presumption against retroactive legislation is deeply 

rooted in our jurisprudence, and embodies a legal doctrine centuries older 

than our Republic." !d. at 265. 

Consistent with this presumption against retroactivity, the Ninth 

Circuit has routinely held that changes to statutes of limitations do not 

revive claims that were previously time-barred: "[A] statute of 

limitations may not be applied retroactively to revive a claim that would 

otherwise be stale under the old [statutory] scheme." Chenault v. US. 

Postal Serv., 37 F.3d 535, 538 (9th Cir. 1994); Bulgo v. Munoz, 853 F.2d 

710, 715 (9th Cir. 1988) (declining to give retroactive effect to 

amendment to statute of limitations, which would have revived plaintiffs 

time-barred claim); Maldonado v. Harris, 370 F.3d 945, 955 (9th Cir. 

2004) ("Under California law, an extension of a statute of limitations will 

not apply to claims already barred under the prior statute of limitations 

unless the Legislature explicitly provides otherwise."). 
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Likewise, in Washington State "[i]t is well accepted that statutes 

of limitation and other statutes providing exceptions to them are to be 

given prospective application only." Torkelson v. Roerick, 24 Wn.App. 

877, 879 (1979), citing O'Donoghue v. State, 66 Wn.2d 787, 790 (1965), 

Lane v. Department of Labor & Indus., 21 Wn.2d 420, 423 ( 1944). In a 

very important Division III.opinion that was later adopted as the opinion 

of the Washington State Supreme Court, the Court of Appeals held that: 

After a right is barred by an existing statute of limitations, 
the court will not construe subsequent legislation so as to 
remove the bar or revive the cause of action unless by the 
plain terms of the subsequent legislation or by necessary 
implication it is apparent the legislature intended 
retroactive application. 

Kittilson v. Ford, 23 Wn.App. 402,411 (1979) affd, 93 Wn.2d 223 

(1980) (citations omitted). 

Under Washington law, the basic presumption against 

retroactivity can only be overcome if the Legislature explicitly provides 

for retroactivity or the amendment is "curative" or "remedial". 

Loeffelholz v. Univ. of Washington, 175 Wn.2d 264, 271 (2012); Densley 

v. Dep't of Ret. Sys., 162 Wn.2d 210,223 (2007). 

With respect to the June 2010 amendments to RCW 25.15.303, 

there is a complete lack of any express direction from the Legislature to 

overcome the presumption against retroactivity. 

15 



The 2010 amendments were also not curative, because an 

amendment is curative and retroactive only if it clarifies or technically 

corrects an ambiguous statute. State v. Jones, 110 Wn.2d 74, 82 (1988). 

Ambiguity in the statutory language is therefore a condition precedent to 

finding that an amendment was curative. However, in Chadwick Farms, 

this Court stated, "The plain language in RCW 25.15.303 and the other 

provisions of the Act resolve the statute's meaning. Because we find no 

ambiguity, we have no reason to consider legislative history." 165 Wn.2d 

at 195. Because this Court determined the 2006 version ofRCW 

25.15.303 was unambiguous, the 2010 amendments cannot be curative. 

The amendments also cannot be remedial. "An amendment is 

deemed remedial and applied retroactively when it relates to practice, 

procedure or remedies, and does not affect a substantive or vested right." 

In re F.D. Processing, Inc., 119 Wn.2d 452,462-63 (1992). "A statute 

which provides a claimant with the right to proceed against persons 

previously outside the scope of the statute deals with a substantive right, 

and therefore applies prospectively only." Dep't of Ret. Sys. v. Kralman, 

73 Wn.App. 25, 33 (Div. III 1994), citing Kittilson, 23 Wn.App. at 411. 

As explained above, the Houks' action was time-barred on October 2, 

2009. From that date forward, the Houks no longer had a legal right to 

proceed against NSD and Mr. Nichols, each of whom had a legal right to 
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assert the statute of limitations as a complete defense. If applied 

retroactively, the 2010 amendments to RCW 25.15.303 would give the

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